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Before POLI TZ, Chief Judge, GOLDBERG and DUHE, Circuit Judges.
POLI TZ, Chief Judge:

Benny Lavern Col lins appeals his convictions for obstructing
conmerce by robbery! and for using or carrying a firearmduring a
crime of violence.? W affirmin part and reverse in part.

Backgr ound

On COctober 30, 1991, Collins robbed a Denny's restaurant in

Dal |l as, Texas at gunpoint. Despite a high-speed chase and

118 U.S.C. § 1951(a), also known as the "Hobbs Act."
218 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1).



subsequent manhunt, Collins eluded authorities. Shortly thereafter
Collins appeared at the honme of Steve Wnn, an enployee of a
nati onal conputer conpany whom he robbed at gunpoi nt, abscondi ng
wth cash, jewelry, clothes, and Wnn's Mercedes-Benz with its
cellul ar tel ephone. After abandoning the car in Houston, Collins
flew to Los Angel es. In due course he was arrested there and
returned to Texas.

Collins was indicted, tried, and found guilty by a jury of
obstruction of interstate comrerce by robbing a Denny's restaurant
enpl oyee, wusing a firearm during this crinme of violence,
obstruction of interstate conmerce by robbi ng Steve Wnn, and usi ng
a firearm during this crinme of violence. The district court
sentenced Collins to concurrent 250-nonth sentences on the section
1951(a) violations, and a total of 300 nonths on the section

924(c) (1) violations, to run consecutively to the sentences i nposed

for the section 1951(a) violations. The instant appeal tinely
fol | oned.
Anal ysi s

Collins first challenges the use of his confession at trial,
claimng that it was not free and voluntary because he was not
properly informed of his constitutional right to counsel and his
guaranty agai nst self-incrimnation. The district court found that
Collins' confession was the product of a knowng and voluntary
wai ver of his Mranda® rights, and declined to suppress the

evi dence.

SMranda v. Arizona, 384 U S. 436 (1966).
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For the confession to be admssible at trial the governnent
had to show that Collins was informed of his Mranda rights and
that his waiver thereof and the resultant confession were the
"product of a free and deliberate choice."*

Collins maintains that he was never properly infornmed of his
Mranda rights as the FBI agents, before the adm ttedly-custodi al
interrogation began, failed to reinform himverbally of the full
extent of hisrights to an attorney and to remain silent. |nstead,
the agents gave hima witten waiver-of-rights formwhich detail ed
these rights and then unsuccessfully sought his signature thereon.
Collins insists that the nere placenent of the formin front of him
W t hout sone proof that he actually read and conprehended the
docunent was not adequate proof that he was informed of his rights
and had waived sane. As a consequence, he clains that the
subsequent confession was not know ng and vol untary.

It is axiomatic that an accused nust be infornmed of his
Mranda rights in a way that ensures his knowi ng, intelligent, and
voluntary exercise or waiver thereof.® The record supports the
district court's finding that Collins was effectively infornmed of
his rights. Collins perused the formfor a m nute before returning
it to the agents with the words "I ain't signing that." One agent
testified that Collins appeared to read and understand the form

We perceive no error in the district court's crediting of this

“Moran v. Burbine, 475 U. S. 412, 421 (1986).

SUnited States v. Montos, 421 F.2d 215 (5th Cir.), cert.
deni ed, 397 U. S. 1022 (1970).



testinony and determining that Collins was informed of and
understood his rights® considering his age -- 38, his education --
CED degree, and his famliarity with the crimnal justice systemas
a consequence of his extensive crimnal history.’

Whet her Col lins waived his Mranda rights presented a factual
guestion for the district court.® Such waivers may be direct or,
in sonme instances, they may "be clearly inferred fromthe actions
and words of the person interrogated."® The nmere answering of
questions is insufficient to show wai ver; however, there nust be
sone affirmative action denonstrating a wai ver of Collins' Mranda
rights.® W find such action to be present herein.

The record reflects that after Collins refused to sign the
formone of the agents told him "You know, you can talk to us if
you want. You don't have to. You read the form But if you want

to talk to us, you can." At that point Collins replied "Ckay."

6See United States v. Bailey, 468 F.2d 652 (5th Cir. 1972)
(presentation of witten warnings sufficient to satisfy Mranda).
Accord, United States v. Van Dusen, 431 F.2d 1278 (1st Cr. 1970),
and Fritts v. United States, 395 F.2d 219 (5th Cr. 1968).

'See Poyner v. Murray, 964 F.2d 1404 (4th Cr.), cert. denied,
_____ us _ , 113 SSC. 49 (1992). The contention that the
agent was unable to determne if Collins actually read the formis
"specious,"” as "it would |ikew se be inpossible to attest that
soneone is in fear of pain, or that a person understood what he was
saying; yet the abstract plausibility of such epistenological
skepticismdoes not justify actual doubts in either everyday life
or the | aw which governs it." United States v. Heredi a- Fernandez,
756 F.2d 1412, 1416 (9th Gr.), cert. denied, 474 U S. 836 (1985).

8United States v. Foy, 28 F.3d 464 (5th Cir. 1994).

°North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U S. 369, 373 (1979).

1°See McDonald v. Lucas, 677 F.2d 518 (5th Cir. 1982).
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Thereafter, upon being questioned about the Dallas robberies he
confessed. Inthis setting, the trial court did not err in finding
that Collins waived his Mranda rights. The confession was
properly adm tted. !

Collins next clains that the evidence is insufficient to
support a finding that his robbery of Wnn obstructed interstate
conmerce, an essential elenent of federal crimnal jurisdiction.??
Such challenges to evidentiary sufficiency are reviewed in the
light nost favorable to the verdict, inquiring only whether a
rational juror could have found each elenent of the crine proven
beyond a reasonabl e doubt.

At trial the governnment argued that Collins' theft of Wnn's
personal |l y-owned vehicle affected interstate commerce by the
consequent adverse effect on the conpany's potential for conducting
interstate business -- the robbery prevented Wnn fromattendi ng a
busi ness neeting and prevented his use of his cellular phone to
make business calls. Alternatively, the governnent contended that
as the stolen vehicle had traveled in interstate comerce, its

theft sonehow affected it. Although the governnent need only show

H“Even if there were error in the adm ssion of the confession
it would be harm ess in |light of the overwhel m ng evidence |inking
Collins to the robberies, including his positive identification as
the perpetrator by all of the victinse and eyew tnesses, the
presence of his checkbook and prescription bottle in the getaway
vehicle, his fingerprints found at the Wnn residence, and his
possession of the jewelry, clothes, and vehicle stolen from W nn.
See Chapman v. California, 318 U S. 18 (1967), and Arizona V.
Ful m nante, 499 U. S. 279 (1991).

2Stirone v. United States, 361 U S. 212 (1960).
B3Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307 (1979).
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that the robbery of Wnn had a de minims effect on interstate
conmerce to secure federal jurisdiction under section 1951(a),
both of these propositions are too attenuated to satisfy the
interstate commerce requirenent.

Both direct!® and indirect affects on interstate commerce nmay
violate section 1951(a). The governnent's "depl etion-of-assets"”
theory falls into the indirect category. This theory relies on a
m nimal adverse effect wupon interstate commerce caused by a
"depletion of the resources of the business which permts the
reasonable inference that its operations are obstructed or
del ayed. "' This thesis usually is appliedto businesses or simlar

entities engaged in interstate conmerce,! as "[i]n general

MYUnited States v. Wight, 797 F.2d 245 (5th Cir. 1986), cert.
deni ed, 481 U. S. 1013 (1987).

15See United States v. Stephens, 964 F.2d 424 (5th Cir. 1992)
(extortion of interstate travelers directly affected interstate
comerce); United States v. Heidecke, 900 F. 2d 1155 (7th G r. 1990)
(extortion of funds for driver's license fromtraveling sal esnan
directly violative of Act); and United States v. Jarabek, 726 F.2d
889 (1st Cir. 1984) (extortion of business engaged in interstate
comerce directly violates section 1951(a)).

®Esperti v. United States, 406 F.2d 148, 150 (5th Gr.), cert.
denied, 394 U. S. 1000 (1969).

7See United States v. Martinez, 38 F.3d 444 (5th Cir. 1994)
(robbery-induced closure of business dealing in interstate goods
interrupts flowof interstate commerce); United States v. Richard,
9 F.3d 102 (5th G r. 1993) (unpublished opinion) (tenporary closure
of store follow ng robbery sufficient interference with interstate
comerce); United States v. Frasch, 818 F.3d 631 (7th Gr. 1987)
(paynent of bribe affects business's purchase of interstate goods);
United States v. Curcio, 759 F.2d 237 (2d Cr.), cert. denied, 474
US 848 (1985) (extortionate conduct toward a bar affects
interstate liquor purchases); and United States v. Pearson, 508
F.2d 595 (5th CGr.), cert. denied, 423 U S. 845 (1975) (robbery of
hotel affects interstate commerce).
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busi nesses purchase on a larger scale than individuals[, and]
extortion [and robbery are] likely to have a greater effect on
interstate comerce when directed at businesses rather than
i ndi vi dual s. "8

Crimnal acts directed toward individuals may viol ate section
1951(a) only if: (1) the acts deplete the assets of an individual
who is directly and custonmarily engaged in interstate conmmerce;!®
(2) if the acts cause or create the likelihood that the individual
will deplete the assets of an entity engaged in interstate
conmerce;?° or (3) if the nunber of individuals victimzed or the
sumat stake is so large that there will be sone "cunul ative effect
on interstate conmerce."? "However, as broadly as the extension
of the interstate commerce requirenent has spread, we are still a

f ederal , not a unitary governnent"?? and, "nei t her t he

8United States v. Boul ahanis, 677 F.2d 586, 590 (7th Cr.),
cert. denied, 459 U S. 1016 (1982).

®United States v. Merolla, 523 F.2d 51 (2d Cir. 1975).

20See United States v. DeParias, 805 F.2d 1447 (11th Cir.),
cert. denied, 482 U S. 916 (1986) (ki dnapping and extortion created
the probability of using interstate entity's funds to pay ranson)
and United States v. Chiantese, 582 F.2d 974 (5th Cr. 1978), cert.
denied, 441 U S. 922 (1979) (attenpted extortion of individua
coul d cause depletion of funds of his interstate business).

21Jund v. Town of Henpstead, 941 F.2d 1271, 1285 (2d Cir.
1991). See also United States v. Farrell, 877 F.2d 870 (1llth
Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 922 (1989) (extortionate sumdenmanded
fromindividuals so high that it "would have affected interstate
comerce to a legally cognizable degree"), and United States v.
Mur phy, 768 F.2d 1518 (7th Cr. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U S. 1012
(1986) (paynent of bribes by | awers depl eted aggregate ability to
purchase | aw books and office supplies that noved in interstate
conmmer ce) .

2United States v. Buffey, 899 F.2d 1402, 1404 (4th Cr. 1990).
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constitutional limts on the power of the national governnent, nor
the jurisdictional requirenent of sonme connection with interstate
conmerce nmay be ignored."?

In this case the governnent showed neither a robbery of a
busi ness nor an actual or potential direct effect on a business
caused by the robbery of an individual. Nor did the governnent
show the robbery of an individual directly engaged in interstate
commerce, or the robbery of so many individuals or of so great a
sum that interstate comerce realistically would be affected
Rat her, the evidence establishes that Wnn was an i ndi vi dual whose
only connection with interstate conmmerce was his enploynent by a
busi ness engaged in interstate comerce. It is suggested that the
robbery mght have affected the performance of his enploynent
duti es. This linkage to his business is nuch too indirect to
present a sufficient nexus with interstate commerce to justify
federal jurisdiction.

We are persuaded that if the robbery of an individual were
found to affect interstate conmerce nerely because of the real or
percei ved disruption of the individual's business by interfering
wth his work, the reach of section 1951(a) would be ubi quitous,
and any robbery, in our closely-interwwven econony, arguably would
affect interstate commerce. Gven the fact that "[t] he Hobbs Act

definition of comrerce is coextensive with the constitutiona

ZBUnited States v. Mttson, 671 F.2d 1020, 1023 (7th Cir.
1982) .



definition,"? and that the congressional comerce power extends
only to conduct which "exerts a substantial economc effect on
interstate conmerce,"?® it is mnifest that Congress nmy not
regul ate conduct that, standing alone, does not directly affect
interstate commerce or have a direct effect on a business engaged
in interstate conmmerce.

A finding of the requisite nexus herein would be in stark
conflict wwth the principle that our federal governnent has Iimted
and enunerated powers, with routine police power generally being
reserved to the states.?® Such a facile construction of the Hobbs
Act as suggested by the governnment would ignore the tenet that,
"unl ess Congress conveys its purpose clearly, it will not be deened
to have significantly changed the federal -state bal ance."?” There
is no such intent in either the express |anguage or |egislative
hi story of the Hobbs Act. To the contrary, it is clear that the
Hobbs Act was intended to reach only certain activities that hanper
interstate business, reflecting the | ong-recogni zed principle that
the states are best positioned and equi pped to enforce the general

crimnal laws.?® W are persuaded that the robbery of Wnn -- which

24United States v. Hanigan, 681 F.2d 1127, 1130 (9th Cir.
1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1203 (1983).

SUnited States v. Lopez, 2 F.3d 1342, 1361 (5th G r. 1993),
cert. granted, u. S. , 114 S. . 1536 (1994), citing

Wckard v. Filburn, 317 U S 111, 125 (1942).

26See Gregory v. Ashcroft, 501 U. S. 452 (1991), and Lopez.
2United States v. Bass, 404 U.S. 336, 349 (1971).

28See 91 Cong. Rec. 11910, 11922 (1945). See also United
States v. Culbert, 435 U S. 371 (1978).
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caused only a specul ative indirect effect on a business engaged in
interstate commerce -- falls into this general category of crines
whi ch the states are best equi pped to handl e and, in the absence of
evi dence showing sone direct or substantial indirect effect on
interstate commerce, the Hobbs Act does not apply. The conviction
of Collins for a Hobbs Act violation as a consequence of the Wnn
robbery must be reversed. ?°

Collins also correctly clains that if the Wnn-related
conviction is reversed the attendant unlawful use of a firearm
charge nust also fall. Section 924(c)(1) requires that the
underlying offense be a federal crinme and, as the robbery-of-Wnn
conviction for violation of section 1951(a) is now voided, the
conviction for unlawful use of a firearmduring that robbery also
nmust be reversed.

Collins further correctly notes that the sentences i nposed for
his violations of section 1951(a) were excessive and nust be
vacat ed. The district court, pursuant to the Cuidelines,
determ ned the sentencing range for each violation of section
1951(a) to be 210-262 nonths, and sentenced Collins to 250 nonths

on each count. Sentences nmay not exceed the maxi num statutory

2The sane considerations bar the governnent's alternative
argunent that, as the stolen car itself had once traveled in
interstate commerce, its theft sonehow affected interstate
conmer ce. This contention is based on a msplaced reliance on
United States v. Samuels, 14 F.3d 52 (5th Cr. 1993) (unpublished
opi nion), which found a section 1951(a) violation in the theft of
a busi ness-owned vehicle. W declinetheinvitationto extend this
holding to the theft of a privately-owned vehicle.
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[imt.3 The maxi num sentence for a section 1951(a) violation is
240 nonths. As we have reversed the conviction and sentence on the
W nn-r obbery section 1951(a) count, we need only vacate and remand
for resentencing on the Hobbs Act count for the Denny restaurant
r obbery.

Capsul ating, we AFFIRMthe section 1951(a) conviction for the
Denny restaurant robbery but VACATE t he sentence i nposed and REMAND
for resentencing. W AFFIRMthe section 924(c)(1) conviction and
sentence for the Denny restaurant-rel ated of fense. W REVERSE the
convictions and sentences for the section 1951(a) and section

924(c) (1) charges arising out of the Wnn robbery.

See United States v. Taylor, 868 F.2d 125 (5th Cir. 1989).
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